# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/15/2023 10:56 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102651-0

#### (COURT OF APPEALS NO. 57948-1-II)

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

#### DWAYNE EARL BARTHOLOMEW,

Defendant/Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### MacDONALD HOAGUE & BAYLESS

Timothy K. Ford, WSBA #5986 705 2nd Avenue, Suite 1500 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 622-1604 Timf@mhb.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

####

#### INTRODUCTION

In March 2021, this Court ordered the Pierce County

Superior Court to conduct resentencing proceedings to

determine if Dwayne Bartholomew's life without parole
sentence was constitutional. After an extensive review of the
record and a two-day hearing, Pierce County Superior Court

Judge Michael Schwartz held that sentence unconstitutional and
entered a new Judgment imposing a sentence of "life with the
possibility of release or parole." The State did not appeal.

Just before the time for appeal ran, Judge Schwartz received a letter from the Indeterminate Sentence Review Board (ISRB) asking the court to set a minimum term so the ISRB could comply with its Judgment. The State responded to the ISRB letter saying the court had no power to do that. See CP 851. But no appeal was filed, so Judge Schwartz entered an additional Order setting a minimum term of 380 months, which was less time than Mr. Bartholomew had already served.

The State appealed that Order and the Court of Appeals reversed, holding the ISRB has no power to parole prisoners like Mr. Bartholomew. See Appendix A at 9n.2 ("chapter 9.95 RCW does not apply to sentences for aggravated first degree murder."). That left Mr. Bartholomew in prison for life without any possibility of parole or release, even though that sentence has been found unconstitutional in a final trial court Judgment from which the State did not appeal. Acknowledging this, a concurring judge noted that Mr. Bartholomew's only avenue for relief may be a personal restraint petition. App. A-11n4.

Mr. Bartholomew has now filed a Personal Restraint

Petition seeking his release from this unconstitutional sentence.

By this Petition, he is also seeking review of the Court of

Appeals' decision in this state's appeal. He is doing so to

exhaust every possible avenue of relief, and because the

decision regarding CrR 7.8 conflicts with those of other Courts

of Appeals and involves a matter of great public importance.

RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

#### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Dwayne Bartholomew was one of the Petitioners in *Matter of Monschke/Bartholomew*, 197 Wn.2d 305, 482 P.3d 276 (2021) in whose case this Court vacated the sentence of life imprisonment without possibility of parole as unconstitutional under Article I, Section 14 of the Washington Constitution.

At resentencing, the trial court found he was subject to the mitigating qualities of youth at the time of the crime and imposed a sentence of "life imprisonment with the possibility of parole or release." By separate, later Order, the trial court responded to a question from the Indeterminate Sentence Review Board by setting a minimum term of 380 months.

The State let the time for appeal from the sentencing order run but appealed the minimum term Order, arguing that the trial court had no power to set such a term even if that meant that, under current law, Petitioner could not be paroled. The Court of Appeals agreed and vacated the minimum term, so Petitioner again is serving life without any possibility of parole.

#### **DECISION BELOW**

The Court of Appeals' opinion, *State v. Bartholomew*,

\_\_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_\_ (No. 57948-1-II, November 28, 2023), is attached to this Petition as Appendix A.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Does RCW Chapter 9.95 apply to sentences imposed on youthful offenders found constitutionally ineligible for life without possibility of parole?

Is the issuance of a separate order which clarifies and is consistent with the terms of a previously-entered criminal judgment subject to the limitations of CrR 7.8?

#### **FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION**

On March 11, 2021, this Court held that the mandatory life without parole sentence Petitioner Dwayne Bartholomew received for a murder he committed at age 20 violated the State constitution. *Monschke/Bartholomew*, 197 Wn.2d 305, 482 P.3d 276 (2021). It vacated his sentence and ordered the trial court to hold a new sentencing hearing to consider whether he was

subject to the mitigating qualities of youth at the time of the crime. *Id.* at 329. But it didn't specify the source of the trial court's authority to impose a new sentence if he was.

Nothing happened until, on December 13, 2021, Petitioner filed a Motion for Orders Regarding Resentencing Standards and Procedures in the Pierce County Superior Court. CP 5. That Motion argued, *inter alia*, that the trial court's authority to resentence could be found in RCW 10.95.030(1), the 1981 statute which mandated his life without parole sentence, if the portion of the statute which the Supreme Court held was "unconstitutional as applied to [Bartholomew's] conduct," 197 Wn.2d. at 326, were excised. See CP 9. The State responded that the authority must instead reside in RCW 10.95.030(3), a later enacted statute facially applicable to 16– 18-year-olds. See CP 778, 789. The defense Motion had proposed that as an alternative source of authority (CP10), and the trial court accepted the State's position (CP 778, 779).

The trial court then issued a discovery schedule and set a hearing in February 2022 which was later postponed to March.

The parties accordingly exchanged discovery and submitted exhibits and sentencing memoranda.

After it filed its Memorandum, the State changed its position and argued that the trial court had no authority to conduct the resentencing, even though this Court had ordered it. See CP 778-79 and note 2. Then, just days before the scheduled hearing, the State filed a Motion in this Court to recall the Certificate of Finality in the Personal Restraint proceeding in which the resentencing was ordered, making this newly hatched argument. *Id.* The resentencing was continued pending consideration of that Motion.

In the briefing that ensued, the State changed positions again, this time agreeing with the original defense argument that resentencing could be authorized by RCW 10.95.030(1) and that the trial court could only impose sentences of life imprisonment with or without parole. CP 784-85; see CP 790.

On May 5, 2022, a Department of the Court denied the State's Motion to Recall without comment, and the resentencing was rescheduled once again. The State then repeated its stipulation in the trial court.

The resentencing was held over two days in July 2022.

RP 1-210. The trial court recessed the proceedings in order to complete its review of the lengthy record and numerous exhibits that had been submitted (RP 210) and then reconvened on August 10, 2022.

On that date the trial judge delivered an oral opinion which concluded that the defendant was subject to the mitigating qualities of youth at the time of the crime and so should have the opportunity to be considered for parole. RP 215-35; CP 837-50. It then signed a standard form Judgment and Sentence that made clear—twice—that the sentence was imposed "with the possibility of parole or release." CP 827, 831. In colloquy with counsel, the trial judge said that he was attempting to draft a Judgment that would make it clear to the

ISRB that the defendant was no longer ineligible for parole. RP 236-37. In this context, he noted that in previous similar cases he had received responses from the ISRB regarding the findings and orders it needed to carry out the court's judgment. RP 237.

At the State's request, the Judgment was left open with regard to possible restitution, and a further hearing on that issue was scheduled. RP 241-42; see CP 830.

On September 7, 2022, Judge Schwartz received a letter from the ISRB asking that the court set a minimum term, which the Board believed was necessary to consider Mr. Bartholomew for parole consistent with RCW 9.95.011. See RP 870; CP 852. On September 9, 2022—two hours before the time for appealing the sentencing order ran—Deputy Prosecutor Pamela Loginsky responded to the ISRB letter on behalf of the State, saying that RCW 9.95.011 did not apply to this case and that the court had no power to set a minimum term. CP 851-53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The ISRB letter is not in the Clerks Papers and does not appear to have been filed with the trial court.

Defense counsel then filed a motion to set a minimum term "pursuant to CrR 7.8(a)" to bring the issue before the court. CP 854. The State filed an objection (CP 858) and another hearing was held.

At the new hearing, the trial judge first confirmed that all parties had understood that his Judgment was intended to make the defendant eligible for parole. RP 261-62. He then addressed the prosecutor's objections to setting a minimum term in order to carry out that intention:

Ms. Sanchez has conceded ... that if the Court were to sentence Mr. Bartholomew to a life sentence, that the actual term of his sentence would be set by the ISRB. That was discussed, I think, rather at length when the Court resentenced Mr. Bartholomew. And so I think it's clear that that was the intention at the time of the sentencing. And therefore, 7.8(a) does apply in these instances.

The next question is whether the Court can actually lawfully impose a minimum term. Here, the State argues that 9.94, or excuse me, 9.95.011 does not apply to Mr. Bartholomew's case here because he was sentenced for aggravated murder. The fallacy in that reasoning, though, is that 9.95.011 was enacted after the aggravated murder statute. In other words, the legislature presumably had knowledge that there were people who would fall under that particular statute, and there's nothing within the

language of 9.95.011 that excepts people who are positioned like Mr. Bartholomew who got sentenced for murder in the first degree with aggravating circumstances. In fact, Subsection 1 plainly imposes a mandatory duty that the Court shall, at the time of sentencing, fix a minimum term. That persuades this court that that's exactly what this court should do, is set a minimum term for Mr. Bartholomew.

RP 268-69. The court then entered an "Order Modifying

Judgment and Setting Minimum Term" which said this:

RCW 9.95.011(1) requires the Court to fix a minimum term "at the time of sentencing" "[w]hen the court commits a convicted person to the department of corrections."

By oversight, the Judgment and Sentence entered August 10, 2022 did not do so. Neither party has appealed from the Judgment and Sentence entered August 10, 2022, and the time for appeal has run.

The Judgment provided that the Defendant's sentence included "the possibility of parole or release." Fixing a minimum term pursuant to statute is necessary to give effect to that aspect of the Judgment and does not alter it. It is therefore permissible pursuant to CrR 7.8(a).

Consistent with its sentencing decision and for the reasons set forth therein, the Court determines that the minimum sentence in this case should be 380 months.

CP 872.

The State appealed. CP 874. In the Court of Appeals, it argued that trial courts have no authority to set minimum terms or to impose any sentence other than life with or without parole because "the resentencing was conducted pursuant to chapter 10.95 RCW, not chapter 9.95 RCW." App. Br. 15. It said that was so even if it meant there was no "alternative to mandatory LWOP for that subgroup of the *Monschke* class whose murders reflected youthful immaturity, impetuosity, or failure to appreciate risks and consequences." App. Br. 6-7, 19. It also argued the October 6 Order was improper because it involved more than correction of a "clerical error." *Id.* at 13-17.

Petitioner responded that the State's position "would leave Mr. Bartholomew in prison for life without any possibility of parole or release, even though the trial court has determined that sentence is unconstitutional ... in a final Judgment the State did not appeal." Resp. Br. 2. He also argued that, despite its designation, the Order of October 6 did not necessarily implicate CrR 7.8 because it did not change or add

to the Judgment and Sentence; it simply answered a question in order to give effect to it. *Id.* at 10-13. He also pointed out that RCW 9.95.030 authorizes trial courts to answer questions from the ISRB after their judgments have been entered and become final. *Id.* at 11n.7, 14.

At argument, the Court of Appeals judges questioned if RCW 9.95.030 could be considered authority for the minimum term Order. Petitioner then sought leave to ask for modification of the October 6 Order to answer that question, but that was denied without comment. Petitioner then filed a CrR 7.8(b) Motion to Modify October 6 Order in the trial court (App. B), but that was referred back to the Court of Appeals (App. C). Days later, the Court of Appeals issued its decision holding that "Chapter 9.95 RCW does not apply to sentences for aggravated first degree murder." App. A at 9n1. That made the October 6 Order moot, implicitly rejected the CrR 7.8(b) Motion, and made further argument about the trial court's power to recommend minimum parole terms futile.

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' HOLDING THAT "CHAPTER 9.95 DOES NOT APPLY TO SENTENCES FOR AGGRAVATED FIRST DEGREE MURDER" INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE THAT IS NOW BEFORE THE COURT IN OTHER PENDING CASES.

The Court of Appeals' holding that "RCW Chapter 9.95 does not apply to sentences of aggravated murder," so the trial court never had the power to enter a minimum term—means that the resentencing in this case was a fool's errand: a determination that a defendant should be eligible for parole, when parole was legally impossible.

The Court of Appeals is wrong. The cure for an unconstitutionally excessive sentence is not the same sentence under a different name. The argument for severance of the words "without possibility of parole" from RCW 10.95.030(1) was that removing those words would create a possibility of parole and restore trial courts' constitutionally mandated discretion. See CP 9. If RCW 9.95 does not apply to cases of aggravated murder, then there is no legal possibility of parole in

such cases, and the constitutional defect has not been cured by the severance.

The Court of Appeals did not explain its statement that aggravated murder cases are exempt from RCW Chapter 9.95.

The State's argument for that position below—that "the resentencing was conducted pursuant to chapter 10.95 RCW, not chapter 9.95 RCW"—is nonsense. No criminal defendant is sentenced "pursuant to chapter 9.95"; crimes and punishments are described in other chapters of RCW Title 9, RCW Chapter 9A, and elsewhere in the law. The fact that the aggravated murder statute is not located in Chapter 9.95 is meaningless.

The State's related argument that RCW Chapter 10.95 is "complete and specific, leaving no room for the application of general sentencing statutes," (App. Br. 24) makes no more sense. Whether or not that was true before this Court's decision in *Monshke/Bartholomew*, it clearly was not true afterwards.

The State admitted as much when it conceded in this Court and

the trial court that the statute could be saved and applied if, and only if, some of its provisions are severed or modified.

Chapter 9.95 does not support the Court of Appeals' decision. RCW 9.95.030 says the ISRB may "obtain" judges' statements regarding "what, in their judgment, should be the duration of the convicted person's imprisonment," after a "convicted person is transported to the custody of the department of corrections." RCW 9.95.011 requires trial courts to "fix the minimum term" "[w]hen the court commits a convicted person to the department of corrections ...." RCW 9.95.115 gives the ISRB "authority to parole any person sentenced ... under a mandatory life sentence for a crime committed before July 1, 1984, except those persons sentenced to life without the possibility of parole."

None of these statutes say, "unless the convicted person was sentenced under RCW Chapter 10.95." The trial court here "commit[ed] a convicted person to the department of corrections," under a "mandatory life sentence for a crime

committed before July 1, 1984." When the person got to prison, the ISRB wrote to "obtain" a minimum term from the trial court. RCW 9.95.030. The statutes apply by their plain terms.

The Court of Appeals brushed these statutes aside, holding that none of them apply to aggravated murder cases. App. A at 9n.9, 10 (concurring opinion). It vacated the minimum term Order and let the sentence stand, providing no guidance to the trial court about how to cure the resulting constitutional problem. The concurring judge wrote that the constitutional violation might have been avoided if the ISRB had filed a "petition for post-sentence review under RCW 9.94A.585(7) and RAP 16.18(a)," or might be cured if Petitioner filed a Personal Restraint Petition. *Id.* at 11 and n.4.<sup>2</sup> However, she acknowledged that the State could be correct that the constitutional problem could not be solved under current law and might require legislative action. *Id.* at 11-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> To insure he has exhausted every avenue of relief, Petitioner intends to file a Personal Restraint Petition in this Court to be considered along with this Petition.

This Court currently has before it at least two other cases that present this same conundrum, *State of Washington v*.

Kimonti Dennis Carter and Shawn Dee Reite, No. 101777-4. In those cases, the trial courts applied a different analysis and reached a different solution. They held that Monshke/

Bartholomew requires the word "shall" in RCW 10.95.030(1) to be read as "may," giving discretion to the trial court to impose a determinate sentence of a term of years. In appealing those judgments, the State has continued to argue that there is no legal means by which prisoners in the Monshcke class can be sentenced to anything other than life without parole.

This is plainly an important question of constitutional law on which lower courts are divided and need guidance from this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3) and (4). The Court therefore should grant review here and consider this case along with, or in light of, *Carter/Reite*. If it holds the trial courts in those cases were correct, Petitioner was eligible for a determinate sentence, but neither the trial court, nor the defense, nor the State, nor the

ISRB knew it. If it holds the Court of Appeals was correct that Chapter 9.95 RCW cannot apply to aggravated murder cases, the trial court erred by including the words "with possibility of parole or release" in the Judgment and Sentence, because the law did not allow such a possibility. In either case, the case should be remanded to the trial court with instructions to issue appropriate orders curing the error. If the trial court was correct that parole was possible and it was necessary to set a minimum term to make it so, the decision of the Court of Appeals should be reversed.

## B. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF OTHER COURT OF APPEALS' REGARDING THE MEANING OF CrR 7.8.

CrR 7.8(a) provides:

Clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the court at any time of its own initiative or on the motion of any party and after such notice, if any, as the court orders.

Whether a court may issue a subsequent order relating to previously entered judgment depends on whether it is

"correct[ing] language that did not correctly convey the court's intention" or adding language that was unintentionally left out of the original judgment. State v. Morales, 196 Wn. App. 106, 117, 383 P.3d 539 (2016). If the language in a judgment and sentence which order purports to amend did not convey the trial court's intention, then it is a judicial error and cannot be fixed by amendment under CrR 7.8(a). See Presidential Estates Apartment Assocs. v. Barrett, 129 Wn.2d 320, 326, 917 P.2d 100 (1996). In other words, as Division II itself has recognized in previous cases, CrR 7.8 permits amendments if, but only if, they reflect "the intention of the court as expressed in the trial record." State v. Rouse, No. 55491-7-II, 2022 Wash. App. LEXIS 1002, at \*7 (May 10, 2022).

This principle is applied by trial courts on a regular basis. Most commonly and obviously, criminal judgments are often entered without a determination of the amount (or availability) of restitution, which is left to future hearings—as it was in this case. See RP 241-42. Similar actions have been approved in

other circumstances where sentencing forms do not include all the specifics necessary to effectuate a judgment. See, e.g., State v. Townsend, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 1227, at \*9 (Division II, June 27, 2023) (revisiting judgment to check box to authorize exceptional sentence); State v. Collins, 2022 Wash. App. LEXIS 2268, at \*26 (Division II, Nov. 29, 2022) (amending judgment appendix to fix inconsistency); State v. Reed, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS 984, at \*7-9 (Division 1, Apr. 26, 2021) (state's motion to amend judgment to change community custody provision); State v. Williams, 15 Wash. App. 2d 841, 844 n.1, 480 P.3d 1145 (Division III 2020) (state permitted to move to amend warrant of commitment to provide sentences were to run concurrently); State v. Zavala-Reynoso, 127 Wash. App. 119, 123-24, 110 P.3d 827 (Division III 2005) (defendant's motion to amend judgment granted to change sentence exceeding statutory maximum).

Even more relevant to this case, RCW 9.95.030 expressly allows the ISRB to "obtain" trial judges' recommendations

regarding "what, in their judgment, should be the duration of the convicted person's imprisonment," *after* a "convicted person is transported to the custody of the department of corrections." Under the reading of CrR 7.8(a) in the decision below, courts would lack the power to provide the answer which this statute authorizes the ISRB to obtain from them.

The Court of Appeals' error may derive from the premise that CrR 7.8 applies here at all. Although the trial court's Order cited CrR 7.8(a) it did not correct a "mistake in [a] judgment[]." It asked the trial court to answer a separate question to which the Judgment itself did not and was not required to speak.<sup>3</sup> This was pointed out in the briefing below to no avail.

As recounted above, the Court of Appeals did not rest its decision wholly on its reading of CrR 7.8(a), but avoided the question of whether the minimum term Order could be cured

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>RCW 9.95.011 says trial courts must "fix the minimum term" "at the time of sentencing," but it doesn't require that the term be set out *in* the judgment and sentence itself. And as noted, RCW 9.95.030 assumes the court will address the minimum term question after sentencing, if asked to do so.

under CrR 7.8(b) or in any other way by holding that Chapter 9.95 RCW does not apply to aggravated murder cases. But wholly apart from that holding, the analysis of CrR 7.8(a) in this published opinion merits review because it conflicts with the decisions of other Courts of Appeals cited above, and calls into question trial courts' power to enter all sorts of orders that address subjects not specifically addressed in the body of criminal judgments. See RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3) and (4).

#### **CONCLUSION**

Review should be granted, and the decision below should be reversed. The trial court's Order should be affirmed or the case remanded with instructions to enter an appropriate order giving effect to the decision that Petitioner is constitutionally entitled to a sentence less than life without parole.