FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/1/2024 2:52 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1026510

NO.-102642--1-

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DWAYNE EARL BARTHOLOMEW,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Michael E. Schwartz

No. 81-1-00579-1

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

PAMELA B. LOGINSKY Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 18096 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2913

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Bartholomew's petition for review challenges the constitutionality of his post-remand sentence. The relief he requests is some other sentence than what was imposed in the post-remand judgment and sentence. *See* Petition for Review at 17-18. Bartholomew's petition for review on this issue must be denied because he did not file a timely notice of appeal from his sentence, and he did not assert this argument in the court of appeals.

Bartholomew also claims that review should be granted because the appellate court's CrR 7.8(a) ruling conflicts with decisions applying CrR 7.8(b) and unpublished decisions applying CrR 7.8(a). Bartholomew, however, only sought relief pursuant to CrR 7.8(a) and the appellate court's refusal to reach the alternative grounds for relief is consistent with published opinions from both this court and the court of appeals.

A. Bartholomew's Request for a Different Sentence is Not Properly Before This Court.

An aggrieved party has 30 days from entry of the order that it seeks review of to file a notice of appeal. RAP 5.2(a). That date begins to run on the day the trial court submits the order to the clerk for filing. RAP 5.2(c); CR 5(e); CR 58(b). Neglecting the 30-day deadline will almost always be fatal as appellate courts will extend the time for filing a notice of appeal only in the most extreme and unusual circumstances. *See generally* RAP 18.8(b); *Beckman v. State*, 102 Wn. App. 687, 694, 11 P.3d 313 (2000) ("negligence, or the lack of 'reasonable diligence,' does not amount to 'extraordinary circumstances'"). The State filed a timely notice of appeal in this case that identified the only order subject to the appeal. *See* CP 874 ("The State of Washington seeks review by the Court of Appeals, Division II, of the Order Per CrR 7.8(a) Modifying Judgment and Setting Minimum Term that was entered on October 6, 2022 by the Honorable Michael Schwartz in the above-captioned matter."). This notice of appeal limited the appellate court's scope of review to whether the trial court abused its discretion in entering the CrR 7.8(a) order. *See* RAP 5.3(a); RAP 2.4(a); *State v. Bogart*, ____ Wn. App. 2d ___, ___ P.3d ___, 2024 WL 1617097 at * 2 (2024).

Bartholomew, as the prevailing party, was not required to cross-appeal the trial court's CrR 7.8(a) order if he sought no further relief from the court. *State v. Bobic*, 140 Wn.2d 250, 257-58, 996 P.2d 610 (2000). RAP 2.4(a); RAP 5.1(d).⁶ And

⁶ The deadline for Bartholomew to file a notice of crossappeal in this case expired on November 7, 2022. *See* CP 872; RAP 5.2(f).

Bartholomew did not seek affirmative relief in the court of appeals. He does, however, seek further relief from this court namely a new sentence. *See* Petition for Review at 15-18 (determinate sentence, or entry of orders to allow for parole). Bartholomew's request that this court authorize a different sentence and/or direct amendments to his current post-remand sentence must be denied as he did not file a timely notice of appeal from his sentence or a timely notice of cross-appeal from the CrR 7.8(a) order.

If Bartholomew desired a different or modified sentence than that imposed in the August 10, 2022, post-remand judgment, he was required to file a notice of appeal no later than September 10, 2022. *See* CP 827; RAP 5.2(a). He did not do so, electing instead to file a CrR 7.8(a) motion. CP 872. Bartholomew's success in obtaining a CrR 7.8(a) order does not reopen or extend the period for filing a notice of appeal from the August 10, 2022, judgment. *See State v. Gaut*, 111 Wn. App. 875, 46 P.3d 832 (2002) ("an unappealed final judgment cannot be restored to an

appellate track by means of moving to vacate and appealing the denial of the motion"); 15 Douglas J. Ende, Washington Practice: Civil Procedure § 39.12 (Mar. 2024 Update) ("If counsel wishes to challenge the judgment on the basis of errors during trial, the appeal should be from the final judgment, not from the ruling on the motion to vacate."); 14A Douglas J. Ende, Washington Practice: Civil Procedure § 34:28 (Mar. 2024 Update) (an appeal from an order granting or denying a motion to vacate is of "limited utility because it does not bring the final judgment up for review"); RAP 5.2(e) (CrR 7.8 motions not included in the post-judgment orders that extend the time for filing a notice of appeal from the underlying judgment); RAP 2.4(c) (CrR 7.8 motions do not allow for review of a final judgment not designated in the notice of appeal). Thus, this court must reject Bartholomew's first ground for review.

Bartholomew's first ground must also be rejected because he did not raise the issue of a new sentence in the court of appeals. *Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998) (court will decline to consider an issue first raised in a petition for review). And Bartholomew has not provided this court with an adequate record (the pleadings and transcript from the post remand sentencing proceedings) from which to decide his newly asserted request for affirmative relief. *In re Detention of Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d 795, 804-05, 132 P.3d 714 (2006) (declining to review the merits of a claim because the petitioner failed to satisfy his burden of providing an adequate appellate record); *State v. Wade*, 138 Wn.2d 460, 464-66, 979 P.2d 850 (1999) (appellate court does not have an obligation to order supplementation of the record where the party seeking relief does not provide a sufficient record).

B. The Court of Appeal's Denial of Bartholomew's Request to Sustain the Setting of a Minimum Term By Applying Other Statutes or Court Rules Does Not Merit Further Review

Bartholomew contends that review should be granted because the court of appeals limited its review to the propriety of the trial court's setting of a minimum term pursuant to CrR 7.8(a), instead of considering whether a minimum term could be

set pursuant to CrR 7.8(b) or pursuant to RCW 9.95.030. See Petition for Review at 20-22. But Bartholomew limited his motion in the trial court to CrR 7.8(a), and his requested relief was for an order setting "a minimum term pursuant to RCW 9.95.011(1)" as requested by the ISRB. CP 854, 856; see also CP 867. He did not raise CrR 7.8(b) until oral argument, and while he cited RCW 9.95.030 in his respondent's brief, Bartholomew did not present any legal argument that an RCW 9.95.030 recommendation was the equivalent to the RCW 9.95.011(1) minimum term requested by the ISRB, or that such a recommendation was both responsive to the ISRB's request and would enable the ISRB to proceed with a parole hearing. See Respondent's Brief at 11 n. 2, 14.⁷

⁷ Bartholomew's silence on this point is supported by the plain language of RCW 9.95.011(1), which provides that "the expiration of the minimum term set by the court constitutes the parole eligibility review date, at which time the board may consider the convicted person for parole." RCW 9.95.030 does not contain any language that authorizes the ISRB to parole a defendant upon his service of the sentencing judge's recommended "duration of the convicted person's imprisonment.

The court of appeals' determination that the trial court's "Order per CrR 7.8(a)" exceeded the scope of relief under that rule is consistent with published opinions issued both prior to and after its decision in *Bartholomew II* was issued. Compare Bartholomew II, 28 Wn. App. 2d at 818-20 with Presidential Estates Apartment Associates v. Barrett, 129 Wn.2d 320, 326, 917 P.2d 100 (1996) (setting out the test necessary to determine whether an error is clerical or judicial under CR $60(a)^8$; Bogart, 2024 WL 1617097 at *3-5 (CrR 7.8(a) only allows the court to amend the judgment to make it correspond to the facts and law as actually decided and applies); *State v. Rooth*, 129 Wn. App. 761, 770, 121 P.3d 755 (2005) (only clerical mistakes can be corrected by the trial court pursuant to CrR 7.8(a)); see also State v. Hendrickson, 165 Wn.2d 474, 478, 198 P.3d 1029 (2008)

⁸ The test for determining whether a clerical error exists under CrR 7.8(a), is the same as the test used under CR 60(a), the civil rule governing amendment of judgments. *State v. Rooth*, 129 Wn. App. 761, 770, 121 P.3d 755 (2005).

(explaining the difference between clerical and judicial errors with respect to nunc pro tunc orders). Bartholomew's request for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2), therefore, should be denied. And to the extent Bartholomew is claiming a conflict with other published appellate court opinions arising from the appellate court's failure to entertain his untimely CrR 7.8(b) and RCW 9.95.030 arguments, review is also not merited pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2).

An appellate court's refusal to consider issues or theories that were not advanced in the trial court and/or were not asserted until oral argument and/or were not supported by adequate legal argument is well-established. *See, e.g.,* RAP 2.5(a) (appellate court may refuse to consider any error not raised in the trial court); RAP 10.3(b) and RAP 10.3(6) (issues should be supported by argument and citations to legal authority); RAP 11.4(f) (argument limited to the issues raised and argued in the briefs); *State v. Johnson,* 119 Wn.2d 167, 170, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992) (legal theory raised by an appellant for the first time at oral argument does not merit consideration); *Drummond v. Bonaventure of Lacey, LLC*, 20 Wn. App. 2d 455, 462, n. 3, 500 P.3d 198 (2021) (an appellate court is "not required to consider arguments for which only passing treatment is given, or for which reasoned argument is not provided"); *State v. Troutman*, _____ Wn. App. 2d ____, ___ P.3d ____, 2024 W 1506539 at *7 (2024) (a violation of a non-constitutionally mandated court rule⁹ is not of "constitutional dimension" for the purposes of RAP 2.5(a)(3)).

The court of appeals rejected Bartholomew's tardy requests to preserve the order setting the minimum term by applying CrR 7.8(b) and/or to convert the RCW 9.95.011(1) minimum term into an RCW 9.95.030 recommendation in accordance with these well-established principles. The decision

⁹ CrR 7.8(b) is not constitutionally mandated as the constitutional right of habeas corpus is limited to personal and subject matter jurisdiction and neither statutes nor court rules can expand the scope of the constitutional right. *In re Pers. Restraint of Runyan*, 121 Wn.2d 432, 441-43, 853 P.2d 424 (1993).

does not give rise to "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States," RAP 13.4(b)(3). Nor does it give rise to "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Bartholomew's request for review pursuant to "RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3) and (4)"¹⁰ must, therefore, be denied.

V. CONCLUSION

Bartholomew's petition for review must be denied because none of his claimed errors were timely or adequately asserted.

Denying Bartholomew's petition for review does not condemn him to live out his life in prison. The legislature is working on the implementation of this court's *Monschke* decision.¹¹

¹⁰ Petition for Review at 22.

¹¹ While the Legislature failed to pass the proposals that were introduced in the 2024 session, its work on those bills, House Bill (H.B.) 1396, 68th Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2024) and House Bill (H.B.) 2213, 68th Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2024), provide a starting point for compromise in a future session.

This document contains 3,728 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.